EXTECH BUILDING MATERIALS, INC.,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

E & N CONSTRUCTION, INC., SHAWN RONEY and JOAQUIM G. FERREIRA,

Defendants/Petitioner,

SUPREME COURT OF NEW JERSEY DOCKET NO.: 089720

Civil Action

On petition for certification from the Superior Court of New Jersey, Appellate Division (No.: No. A-0191-23 T1)

Sat Below: Hon. Francis J. Vernoia, J.A.D. and Hon. Kay Walcott-Henderson, J.S.C. (t/a)

Law Division: Hon. Robert C. Wilson, J.S.C.

DEFENDANT/PETITIONER JOAQUIM G. FERREIRA'S PETITION FOR CERTIFICATION AND APPENDIX

ANSELMI & CARVELLI, LLP

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- 1. Did the Appellate Division err in concluding that there is no "brightline requirement" concerning the formal requirements to manifest an effective personal guaranty under New Jersey law?
- 2. Is there a reliable rule of law to guide contracting parties in drafting predictably effective guaranties so as to reduce transaction costs and prevent surprise liabilities or is the legal sufficiency of every purported guaranty shrouded in uncertainty pending the completion of discovery and litigation?

- 3. Is there a rule of law that litigants can rely on in evaluating a potential guaranty claim so as to avoid unnecessary litigation where such claim would lack merit or must parties endure the burden and cost of litigation to determine the formal sufficiency of every guaranty, no matter how deficient?
- 4. Did the Appellate Division err in issuing a decision in conflict with all prior case law concerning the interpretation of guaranties and the formal requirements to manifest an effective guaranty under New Jersey law?
- 5. Did the Appellate Division err in concluding that additional discovery was necessary to determine whether a guaranty was formed where a corporate officer undisputedly signed a contract only once on behalf of a corporation and did not sign a separate guaranty or any other instrument?
- 6. Did the Appellate Division err in concluding that a contract did not clearly define the capacity in which it was executed by the signor where a corporate officer undisputedly signed the document only once on behalf of a corporation and did not sign any other instrument?
- 7. Did the Appellate Division err in concluding that there was no basis to determine whether a corporate officer executed a contract on behalf of a corporation or in his personal capacity where the officer undisputedly signed the document only once on behalf of corporation?

STATEMENT OF THE ERRORS COMPLAINED OF

The Appellate Division's decision in this matter (which it erroneously and dismissively described as a "collection case") reflects several reversible errors.

First, the Appellate Division failed to acknowledge the clear and uniform guidance of all prior authority with respect to the nature, formation, and construction of guaranties. Instead, it concluded that no such rules existed. Its decision "cuts against the grain of a long line of jurisprudence" to reach a rogue, outlier result in conflict with New Jersey law.

Second, the Appellate Division employed the incorrect analytical framework. It overlooked the principle, well settled for centuries, that guaranties are strictly construed and interpreted against their proponent. Instead, the Appellate Division conducted a backwards, deferential analysis that transformed fatal legal deficiencies into excuses for further fact discovery.

Third, the Appellate Division introduced the brand new issue of ambiguity and avoided the issues raised by the parties. The Appellate Division found that the Credit Application was ambiguous because it did "not clearly define the capacity in which Ferreira and Roney executed the document." PCa19. This conclusion is inexplicable and inexcusable in light of the fact that the parties do not even dispute that Ferreira signed the document on behalf of E&N.

These errors cry out for certification and review by this Court.

REASONS WHY CERTIFICATION SHOULD BE ALLOWED AND COMMENTS WITH RESPECT TO THE APPELLATE DIVISION OPINION

I. CERTIFICATION SHOULD BE GRANTED BECAUSE THIS APPEAL PRESENTS A QUESTION OF GENERAL PUBLIC IMPORTANCE THAT HAS NOT BEEN, BUT SHOULD BE, SETTLED BY THE SUPREME COURT.

This case concerns the question of whether New Jersey law requires that a personal guaranty contain a second signature, separate from the signature on the underlying written contract, in order to be effective and enforceable. According to the Appellate Division, this is an open question.

Further, this open question is one of general public importance because the decision below does not only affect "the parties to this particular dispute." *See Mahony v. Danis*, 95 N.J. 50, 52 (1983) (Handler, J., concurring). Rather, the decision affects the "rights of innocent persons, or an unwary public..." *Id*.

As described *infra*, Ferreira contends and argued below that New Jersey law clearly and uniformly requires that a personal guaranty be accompanied by a separate and distinct signature in order to create a separate and distinct obligation enforceable against the guarantor. The Appellate Division disagreed, however, concluding that "[t]here is no such brightline requirement." PCa20-21. Thus, even if the Appellate Division is correct that there is no such rule, that determination only confirms that certification is required to settle this issue, which is undoubtedly of great and broad public importance.

Personal guaranties are a common contractual device used in a variety of commercial contexts. Such guaranties are often included in franchise agreements, commercial and residential leases, credit applications (such as the one at issue in this case), small business loans, or consumer credit/financing agreements (such as, for example, auto loans). Further, in the absence of a clear principle, personal guaranties are prone to uncertainty and dispute. For these exact reasons, our Legislature specifically included personal guaranties in New Jersey's Statute of Frauds. *See* N.J.S.A. § 25:1-15.

In the absence of any existing rule of law (according to the Appellate Division), guidance from the Supreme Court is just as important to the public as are the statutory formal requirements for an effective will or real estate closing. *See, e.g.*, N.J.S.A. §§ 25:1-11 and 3B:3-2. Further, providing clear and uniform guidance on this issue that can be relied upon by all contracting parties in New Jersey serves the very same critical policy interests that are reflected in Rule 1:1-2(a) (*i.e.*, securing "just determination[s], simplicity in procedure, fairness in administration and the elimination of unjustifiable expense and delay").

Beyond the parties to this particular case, guidance from the Supreme Court is necessary for any contracting parties attempting to draft an enforceable personal guaranty. New Jersey law should provide a reliable rule so that the enforceability of such provisions -i.e., whether guaranty is or is not sufficiently memorialized and executed - is easily predictable.

Similarly, settling of this issue has great significance for future litigants attempting to evaluate whether guaranty claims or defenses thereto are likely to succeed. Such questions should not always require discovery and a thorny and expensive ambiguity analysis by the factfinder. A clear rule will provide certainly and allow those parties to avoid or resolve unnecessary litigation. Continued uncertainty, in contrast, will only embolden baseless litigation and increase costs without yielding any corresponding benefit.

This is a question of enormous general public importance. Certification should accordingly be granted. If the Appellate Division is correct that it has not yet been answered, then it should be settled by the Supreme Court adopting the commonsense "brightline requirement" that is already the law in many other jurisdictions. See, e.g., Capitol Grp., Inc. v. Collier, 365 S.W.3d 644, 648 (Mo. Ct. App. 2012); Livonia Bldg. Materials Co. v. Harrison Const. Co., 742 N.W.2d 140, 146 (Mich. Ct. App. 2007); Express Recovery Servs., Inc. v. Rice, 125 P.3d 108, 109 (Utah Ct. App. 2005); Sunbelt Sec. Servs., Inc. v. Delahoussaye, 572 So. 2d 598, 606 (La. Ct. App. 1990); Salzman Sign Co. v. Beck, 10 N.Y.2d 63, 67 (N.Y. 1961)).

II. CERTIFICATION SHOULD BE GRANTED BECAUSE THE DECISION BELOW IS IN CONFLICT WITH EVERY OTHER DECISION OF THE SAME OR A HIGHER COURT – CALLING FOR THE SUPREME COURT'S SUPERVISION.

The Appellate Division's decision is characterized by an avoidance of the controlling New Jersey authority. Moreover, the Appellate Division dismissively portrayed the trial court's decision as supported only by unpublished case law. In reality, the trial court did not break any new ground. Until this point, New Jersey courts had been unanimous in addressing this issue. In fact, the rule that individuals must sign in different capacities when executing both as a representative of the corporate maker of a contract and as a personal guarantor was stated unambiguously by the Supreme Court in *Ligran, Inc. v. Medlawtel, Inc.*, 86 N.J. 583, 589 (1981).

Because the Appellate Division's decision is at odds with the entire body of New Jersey authority produced until that point, it is in conflict with equal and higher courts. This calls for the supervision of the Supreme Court.

A. The Appellate Division erred by failing to construe the purported guaranty strictly and by employing a deferential analysis instead.

New Jersey law imposes a series of requirements for personal guaranties, and a plaintiff seeking to enforce a purported guaranty must clear a high hurdle. Failure to clear the hurdle should result in the failure of the guaranty claim. Here, however, the Appellate Division inverted the analysis. The formal

shortcomings of Extech's purported guaranty should have precluded its enforcement as a matter of law. Instead, those very deficiencies were used as an excuse to resurrect the claim and outsource the analytical task to the factfinder.

The Appellate Division was initially correct that, in a general sense, guaranties are interpreted according to general contract principles. *Ctr. 48 Ltd. P'ship v. May Dep't Stores Co.*, 355 N.J. Super. 390, 405 (App. Div. 2002). That is just the beginning, however, and the Appellate Division failed to recognize the complete analytical framework for interpreting guaranties.

Beyond general contract principles, "guaranties are strictly construed and interpreted most strongly against the entity which has prepared the form." *Id.* (citing *Nat'l Westminster Bank NJ v. Lomker*, 277 N.J. Super. 491, 499 (App. Div. 1994)). Thus, guaranties are considered under the maxim of "*strictissimi juris* (according to strict law)" and "a guarantor cannot be held liable beyond the strict terms of the guaranty." *Nat'l Westminster Bank*, 277 N.J. Super. at 498 (citing *Max v. Schlenger*, 109 N.J.L. 298, 301 (E. & A. 1932); *Housatonic Bank and Trust Co. v. Fleming*, 234 N.J. Super. 79, 82 (App. Div. 1989)).

This keystone principle is entirely absent from the Appellate Division's analysis. However, it has been the rule since at least 1874, and seems to have been long established even at that time. *See Paulison v. Halsey*, 37 N.J.L. 205,

210 (Sup. Ct. 1874) (quoting *Miller v. Stewart*, 22 U.S. (9 Wheat.) 680, 703 (1824)); see also Guttenberg v. Vassel, 74 N.J.L. 553, 556 (E. & A. 1907).

However, the Appellate Division failed to employ this long established analytical framework. Instead of the required strict construction, the Appellate Division employed a strikingly deferential analysis and held absolutely nothing "against the entity which has prepared the form." Every formal peculiarity and gap in the Credit Application – which should have doomed Extech's attempt to enforce such a shoddy guaranty – was instead used to resurrect the claim.

Such a loose and deferential analysis is completely at odds with more than two hundred years of legal authority. By giving Extech the benefit of every doubt instead of construing the guaranty strictly against Extech as the proponent of the form, the Appellate Division rendered a decision in conflict with all other New Jersey authority. The intervention of this Court is required.

B. The Appellate Division erred in determining that genuine issues of fact remained because Ferreira's single signature could not create a binding personal guaranty as a matter of law.

Extech defined its claims against Ferreira quite clearly. There is exactly one document at issue, which contains the entire universe of Extech's claims. That document is explicitly alleged to create both the underlying contract between Extech and E&N, as well as a personal guaranty from Ferreira. There is no oral statement or any other document alleged to evidence the purported

guaranty. As a result, the validity of Extech's guaranty claim can be determined as a matter of law on the face of the document itself.

New Jersey law has defined both the legal nature of what a guaranty is and the formal requirements necessary to create one. However, in concluding that discovery was necessary, the Appellate Division conspicuously avoided engaging with the established law. The result was a decision in stark conflict with every other decision of equal or higher courts (including a decision by a different panel of the Appellate Division issued just months prior).

A guaranty is, by definition, a secondary obligation — it requires an underlying primary obligation in order to exist. "A guaranty is a separate and independent contract. The guarantor is not a party to the contract between the principal obligor and the guarantee...." *Great Falls Bank v. Pardo*, 263 N.J. Super. 388, 398 n.5 (Ch. Div. 1993), *aff'd*, 273 N.J. Super. 542 (App. Div. 1994). "Under a guaranty contract, the guarantor, in a separate contract with the obligee, promises to answer for the primary obligor's debt on the default of the primary obligor." *Feigenbaum v. Guaracini*, 402 N.J. Super. 7, 18 (App. Div. 2008) (quoting *Cruz-Mendez v. ISU/Ins. Servs.*, 156 N.J. 556, 568 (1999)).

This Court has already explained how to establish this tripartite contractual relationship. "Generally, a guarantor is a different person from the maker or, if the same person, signs in different capacities when signing as maker

and guarantor (*e.g.*, an individual may sign as an officer of a corporate maker and also sign individually as a guarantor of the corporate obligation)." *Ligran*, 86 N.J. at 589. Here, though, there is no separate contract from the Credit Application – which was undisputedly signed by Ferreira and Roney on behalf of E&N. There is likewise no execution of any agreement by Ferreira separate from his one signature on behalf of E&N.

Below, the Appellate Division cited *Ligran* only once, in passing, before proceeding to disregard it entirely. *See* PCa16. In turning away from *Ligran*, the Appellate Division dismissively remarked that the requirement of a second signature is "primarily supported by citations to unpublished cases." PCa20. In reality, it is squarely supported by longstanding, published case law. The settled principles governing the strict interpretation of guaranties are set forth in cases such as *Ctr. 48 Ltd. P'ship, Nat'l Westminster Bank, Housatonic Bank, Max, Paulison*, and *Guttenberg*. The separate and distinct nature of a guaranty is explained in *Feigenbaum, Cruz-Mendez*, and *Ligran. Ligran* clearly explains the need for a second agreement or, at a minimum, a second signature.

Extech failed to cite a single case in which a contract like the Credit Application here – a single document with only one signature – was held to create an enforceable personal guaranty against the corporate representative who executed it on behalf of the company. The Appellate Division also cited no such

case. After several rounds of briefing in the Law Division and the Appellate Division, it appears that such a case does not exist.

Remarkably, the Appellate Division decided this same exact issue the opposite way just 129 days earlier. *See Inglesino, Webster, Wyciskala & Taylor, LLC v. Sapphire Assisted Living, LLC*, No. A-2288-22, 2024 N.J. Super. Unpub. LEXIS 293, at *4-5 (App. Div. Feb. 27, 2024)³ (dismissal of guaranty claim warranted where agreement was "signed by Sapphire's corporate officers" and provided that the officers "would be personally liable" but "did not contain separate signature lines binding them as individuals."). Although this unpublished case, decided after briefing was completed below, is not binding authority, it illustrates that the decision below is at odds with New Jersey law.

The Appellate Division overlooked that a guaranty is a separate contract and failed to require a separate signature. This is in conflict with all other New Jersey authority and requires the intervention of this Court.

C. There was no basis for the Appellate Division's conclusions that the Credit Application was ambiguous or that it failed to define the capacity in which it was executed by Ferreira – an issue that was expressly conceded by Extech.

The Appellate Division read the Credit Application so as to infer various internal contradictions, none of which change the fact that it was signed only on

³ Annexed hereto at PCa42. Petitioner is not aware of any contrary unpublished opinions – except the outlier decision of the Appellate Decision in this case.

behalf of E&N. Nevertheless, the Appellate Division concluded that the Credit Application did not clearly define the capacity in which Ferreira executed it (PCa19), that there was no support in the summary judgment record to make that determination (*id.*), and that additional discovery was necessary in to determine whether an effective personal guaranty was formed. PCa19-20.

Any ambiguity, however, is only imagined. In fact, this issue was not even raised by the parties. Quite the contrary: Extech itself asserted no fewer than eight (8) times that the Credit Application was unambiguous. *See* Pb7, Pb8, Pb18 (twice), Pb23, Preply1, Preply11 (twice).

Moreover, it is impossible – logically and legally – that Ferreira signed the Credit Application in any capacity other than on behalf of E&N. Otherwise, there would have been no underlying contract between Extech and E&N to guarantee in the first place. To be clear, this point is not even in dispute – Extech agrees that Roney and Ferreira both "signed *on behalf of E&N*." Pb3 (emphasis added). Extech added that Roney and Ferreira "*clearly acted as representatives* of *E&N*." Pb10 (emphasis added).

Further, there is no dispute that Ferreira signed the document only once and never executed a separate guaranty agreement. No amount of discovery, evidence, or factfinding can change that. Typically, incomplete discovery is no reason to deny summary judgment absent a showing "that further discovery will supply the missing elements of the cause of action." *Badiali v. N.J. Mfrs. Ins. Grp.*, 220 N.J. 544, 555 (2015). Such a showing cannot possibly be made here.

In its finding of ambiguity, the Appellate Division put the proverbial cart before the horse. There is no occasion to search the meaning of the agreement because there is no agreement at all. In interpreting contracts, "there must be a validly formed agreement to enforce." *Kernahan v. Home Warranty Adm'r of Fla., Inc.*, 236 N.J. 301, 307 (2019). To echo the rhetorical question posed by the Appellate Division in *Home Buyers Warranty v. Roblyn Dev. Corp.*, No. A-0500-05T5, 2006 N.J. Super. Unpub. LEXIS 3000, at *14 (App. Div. Aug. 4, 2006),⁴ if Ferreira and Roney signed in their personal capacities – then who signed on behalf of E&N? Extech cannot answer this key question, and the Appellate Division declined to address it. The fact that this rhetorical question was posed in an unpublished opinion does not change the fact that it is fatal to Extech's claim. The failure to address this obvious concern is revealing.

Neither Extech nor the Appellate Division are able to articulate any scenario in which Ferreira signed the Credit Agreement in his personal capacity to create a binding guaranty. The conclusion that the agreement is ambiguous and discovery is needed, is in direct conflict with New Jersey law.

⁴ Annexed hereto at PCa45. Petitioner is not aware of any contrary unpublished opinions – except the outlier decision of the Appellate Decision in this case.

III. THE INTEREST OF JUSTICE REQUIRES CERTIFICATION BECAUSE THE DECISION BELOW IS PALPABLY WRONG AND UNFAIR TO FERREIRA, AND A UNIFORM RULE OF LAW IS NECESSARY.

Beyond settling an open issue of great public importance and correcting the outlier Appellate Division decision, certification of this matter is also required by the interest of justice.

Certification is warranted in the interest of justice where the result reached by the lower court is "palpably wrong, unfair, or unjust." *See e.g., Bandel v. Friedrich*, 122 N.J. 235, 237 (1991) (quoting *Mahony*, 95 N.J. at 52 (Handler, J., concurring) (denying certification because "there has been no showing of an egregious miscarriage of justice.")). That is the case here.

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