VS.

EXTECH BUILDING MATERIALS, INC., ·

SUPREME COURT OF NEW JERSEY

DOCKET NO.: 089720

Plaintiff/Respondent,

ON PETITION FOR CERTIFICATION FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF

NEW JERSEY

E & N CONSTRUCTION, INC.,

: APPELLATE DIVISION
: DOCKET NO. A 00010

SHAWN RONEY and JOAQUIM G. FERREIRA, DOCKET NO. A-000191-23

Defendants/Petitioner.

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF/RESPONDENT EXTECH BUILDING MATERIALS, INC. IN RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT/PETITIONER JOAQUIM G. FERREIRA'S PETITION FOR CERTIFICATION

Jonathan J. Lerner, Esq. (008411984) Lisa J. Jurick, Esq. (017792004) STARR, GERN, DAVISON & RUBIN, P.C. 105 Eisenhower Parkway, Suite 401 Roseland, NJ 07068-1640 Tel: 973-403-9200 | Fax: 973-226-0031

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

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. DEFENDANT/PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR CERTIFICATION SHOULD BE DENIED SINCE IT FAILS TO DEMONSTRATE THE EXISTENCE OF ANY GROUNDS WARRANTING CERTIFICATION AND IT HAS FAILED TO MEET THE HIGH THRESHOLD SET FORTH IN R. 2:12-4

R. 2:12-4 lays out the very high threshold a petition for certification must meet in order to warrant review by the New Jersey Supreme Court.

R. 2:12-4 states in relevant part:

Certification will be granted only if the appeal presents a question of general public importance which has not been but should be settled by the Supreme Court or is similar to a question presented on another appeal to the Supreme Court; if the decision under review is in conflict with any other decision of the same or a higher court or calls for an exercise of the Supreme Court's supervision and in other matters if the interest of justice requires.

"Typically, a case for certification encompasses several relevant factors controlling the exercise of the Court's discretionary appellate jurisdiction." Mahoney v. Danis, 95 N.J. 50, 52 (1983). Satisfaction of any of the criteria

should "forcefully appear" in the appeal. See id. Unsettled questions of general public importance must "transcend the immediate interests of the litigants" and not be confined by the factual constraints of the contested matter. See Bandel v. Friedrich, 122 N.J. 235, 237-238 (1991) (finding "application of established principles of proximate cause to an intensely-factual situation in no way implicated 'an unsettled question of general public importance'"); Mahoney, supra, 95 N.J. at 52 (finding petition for certification should be denied when issues fail to impact beyond the parties in suit). Moreover, as to judgments that do not involve a matter of general public significance, a showing that the Appellate Division's decision was "palpably wrong, unfair, or an egregious miscarriage of justice" is required to satisfy the "interest of justice" ground set forth in R. 2:12-4. See Mahoney, supra, 95 N.J. at 52.

In this case, the Defendant/Petitioner cannot make any showing that the unpublished decision of the Appellate Division at issue presents a question of general importance that mandates consideration by the New Jersey Supreme Court. The unpublished decision of the Appellate Division is not consequential as precedent. See R. 1:36-3. It does not involve an issue presented on another appeal to the New Jersey Supreme Court, nor is it in conflict with any decision of the same or higher court. See discussion below regarding the inapplicability and lack of conflict in the published cases relied upon by Defendant/Petitioner.

Nor is the decision "palpably wrong, unfair, or an egregious miscarriage of justice." <u>See Mahoney</u>, *supra*, 95 N.J. at 52. Nor does the petition require an exercise of the Supreme Court's supervision nor does the interest of justice require review.

- II. THE APPELLATE DIVISION CORRECTLY HELD THAT PURSUANT TO APPLICABLE CONTRACT PRINCIPLES AND APPLICATION OF THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD, THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS ERRONEOUS
 - A. Strict Construction of the Guaranty is Irrelevant Because Plaintiff/Respondent Only Seeks Enforcement of the Specific Terms of the Guaranty

Defendant/Petitioner admits that guaranties are interpreted according to general contract principles. DPb10. See Center 48 Ltd. Partnership v. May Dept. Stores Co., 355 N.J. Super. 390, 405 (App.Div. 2002), citing Garfield Trust Co. v. Teichmann, 24 N.J. Super. 519, 526 (App.Div. 1953). That is precisely what the Appellate Division did. PCa17-22.

Defendant/Petitioner argues that guaranty contracts are strictly construed, interpreted against the entity that prepared the form, and a guarantor cannot be held beyond the strict limits of the guaranty, citing Center 48 Ltd. Partnership, supra, 355 N.J. Super. at 405; National Westminster Bank NJ v. Lomker, 277 N.J. Super. 491, 498-499 (App.Div. 1994). DPb10-11. Yet strict construction of the guaranty terms, and adherence to the strict limits of the guaranty are not issues in the instant matter as Plaintiff/Respondent is only seeking exactly what

was promised in the contract: namely enforcement of the guaranties of the unpaid E & N debt. Plaintiff/Respondent does not seek to hold Defendant/ Petitioner liable beyond "the strict terms of the guaranty": namely Paragraph 6 of the E & N credit application, which is payment of the indebtedness of E & N. ³ Pal10-111. Specifically, in the guaranty, Joaquim G. Ferreira and Shawn Roney represented as follows:

IN CONSIDERATION OF EXTECH BUILDING ITS **SUBSIDIARIES** OR MATERIALS. AFFILIATES EXTENDING CREDIT, WE JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY DO PERSONALLY GUARANTEE UNCONDITIONALLY, AT ALL TIMES, TO EXTECH, ITS SUBSIDIARIES OR AFFILIATES, THE PAYMENT OF INDEBTEDNESS OR BALANCE OF INDEBTEDNESS OF THE WITHIN NAMES FIRM. THIS GUARANTEE SHALL CONTINUE UNTIL 10 FULL BUSINESS DAYS **AFTER** GUARANTOR **SENDS** Α WRITTEN REVOCATION OF THE GUARANTEE TO EXTECH.

Pall1. [Capital letters are from the referenced document]

There was no "deferential" analysis by the Appellate Division as unfairly asserted by Defendant/Petitioner. DPb11. Instead, there was a thorough examination of the underlying contract and the guaranty. <u>See</u> discussion below.

_

³ Even the 1874 New Jersey Supreme Court case cited by Defendant/Petitioner, although within the context of a surety and not a guaranty, found strict construction completely irrelevant to the matter at hand by agreeing that the undertaking of a surety is to receive a strict interpretation, but explaining "about this rule of construction, there is no difference; the questions between the parties, arise from the facts." Paulison v. Halsey, 37 N.J.L. 205, 210 (Sup. Ct. 1984). DPb10-11. As in Paulison, enforcing strict terms of the guaranty is completely irrelevant here.

B. The Appellate Division's Decision Is Not in Conflict with Any Published Decisions of the Same or a Higher Court and Does Not Require New Jersey Supreme Court Supervision

Defendant/Petitioner is incorrect in his insulting assertion that the decision "is in stark conflict with every other decision of equal or higher courts." DPb12. This is simply not true. Defendant/Petitioner is also incorrect in complaining of the decision's statement that his claims were largely supported by unpublished opinions. DPb13. In fact, six unpublished opinions, which are non-binding and non-precedential pursuant to R. 1:36-3, and do not qualify as conflicting decisions subject to R. 2:12-4, that addressed guaranties were analyzed by both sides in the various appellate briefs: specifically three Appellate Division unpublished opinions; one Chancery Division unpublished opinion authored by the same judge whose orders are the subject of this appeal; one United States District Court, District of New Jersey unpublished opinion; and one United States District Court, Southern District of New York unpublished opinion.⁴ See also Guido v. Duane Morris LLP, 202 N.J. 79, 91

_

⁴ The unpublished cases cited below by both parties were <u>Am. Furniture Mfg. v. Value Furniture & Mattress Warehouse</u>, 2008 N.J. Super. Unpub. LEXIS 2995 (App.Div. Nov. 18, 2008) (Appellate Division found a guaranty contained within the underlying contract unenforceable after analyzing six different factors pursuant to contract law and not based upon a lack of a second signature); <u>Century Star Fuel Corp. v. Jaffe</u>, 2014 N.J. Super. Unpub. LEXIS 2764 (Ch.Div. Nov. 21, 2014) (The same Law Division, Civil Part judge that decided this case, sitting temporarily in the Chancery Division, held that a separate and distinct guaranty document was required where guaranty language

n.4 (2010) (rejecting the use of unpublished decisions as precedent). Only three evaluated the personal guaranty based on whether there was a second signature line and/or a separate contract (including the Chancery Division opinion authored by the trial court in this matter); three applied a contractual analysis of multiple factors. However, no published decisions explicitly support Defendant/Petitioner's position and there is certainly no conflict among published decisions of courts of the same or higher level.

Defendant/Petitioner is also incorrect in his assertion that Plaintiff/ Respondent failed to cite a single case in which a credit application with only

_

was buried in the underlying contract); Home Buyers Warranty v. Roblyn Dev. Corp., 2006 N.J. Super. Unpub. LEXIS 3000 (App.Div. Aug. 4, 2006) (A complex homebuyers warranty contract signed once by the owner, that contained no personal guaranty language whatsoever, was found not to bind the owner personally); N.J. Advance Media v. Lombardo, 2020 N.J. Super. Unpub. LEXIS 736 (App.Div. April 23, 2020) (A personal guaranty contained within a credit application that contained one signature, analogous to this case, was found enforceable against the individual guarantor), TR 39th St. Land Corp. v. Salsa Distrib. USA, LLC, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 87329 (S.D.N.Y. June 18, 2013) (Southern District of New York completely rejected the formulaic Salzman Sign Co. v. Beck, 10 N.Y.2d 63 (N.Y. 1961) two-signature requirement, and applied five "Lollo" factors that analyzed the contract and its circumstances and determined that the lack of a second signature did not render a personal guaranty contained within the underlying contract unenforceable); and Travelodge Hotels, Inc. v. Huber Hotels, LLC, 2022 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1852 (D.N.J. Jan. 5, 2022) (District of New Jersey denied the guarantors' motion for dismissal on summary judgment where there was a separate guaranty contract). Pa273-276; Pa277-281; Pa296-303; Pa474-481; Pa304-315; Pa316-326. See further discussion of TR 39th St. Land Corp. Prb04-05.

one signature was held to create an enforceable guaranty. DPb13-14. In a 2020 unpublished Appellate Division opinion, N.J. Advance Media v. Lombardo, which was cited and discussed by Plaintiff/Respondent before the Appellate Division in its moving brief and reply brief, the defendant signed a credit application concerning advertising that contained personal guaranty language without a second signature line, that was enforced by the trial court following trial. See N.J. Advance Media, 2020 N.J. Super. Unpub. LEXIS 736, at *1-3, 4-6, 11-12 (App.Div. April 23, 2020). "Defendant's testimony also confirmed he signed an 'application for agency recognition' in which he personally guaranteed 'payment of all advertising charges and other obligations incurred to NJ Advance Media." N.J. Advance Media, supra, 2020 N.J. Super. Unpub. LEXIS 736 at *3.

The guaranty language stated: 'In consideration of the extension of credit by NJ Advance Media to () with respect to the placement of advertisements in NJ Advance Media, the undersigned does hereby personally and unconditionally guarantee payment of all advertising charges and other obligations incurred to NJ Advance Media.' This language clearly stated defendant personally guaranteed all advertising charges incurred to plaintiff from DeCozen's advertising. Moreover, the personal guaranty was attendant to and part of an application for agency recognition and credit.

Id. at *11-12.

As quoted, the N.J. Advance Media credit application with guaranty language contained within it is completely analogous to the credit application here. Following a bench trial, the trial court found there was an enforceable guaranty,

which was upheld by the Appellate Division. See id. at *5-6, *11-14.

None of the "established law" referred to by Defendant/Petitioner mandates either a second signature line or a physically separate guaranty contract for a guaranty to be enforceable, and the cases are all distinguishable from the instant matter. DPb12. Therefore, the decision under review is not in conflict with another decision of the same or a higher court. There is no per se rule in New Jersey that there must be two separate signatures on a contract in order to uphold enforcement of a personal guaranty, nor a per se rule that to be valid, a guaranty must be a physically separate and distinct document.⁵

Nor can Defendant/Respondent rely upon <u>Feigenbaum v. Guaracini</u>, 402 N.J. Super. 7 (App.Div. 2008) for the incorrect proposition that there is a conflict

_

⁵ Defendant/Petitioner complains that the decision only mentions the New Jersey Supreme Court's opinion in Ligran, Inc. v. Medlawtel, Inc., 86 N.J. 583 (1981) once and did not follow Ligran, which is one of the reported cases Defendant/Petitioner incorrectly claims this decision is in conflict with. DPb 13. In fact, the Appellate Division decision did address and acknowledge Ligran, even the precise passage referenced by Defendant/Petitioner concerning signing in different capacities. PCa16. The Appellate Division also referenced Feigenbaum v. Guaracini, 402 N.J. Super. 7 (App.Div. 2008). PCa16. However, the references to signing in different capacities in Ligran are general and not limiting. Nowhere does Ligran state that a guarantor must be different from a maker. Moreover, Ligran can be distinguished because it concerned when a cause of action accrues against a person who is both the maker and the guarantor of payment of a promissory note, and expressly applied N.J.S.A. 12A:3-416, one statute within New Jersey's adoption of the Uniform Commercial Code, Chapter 3, Negotiable Instruments. See Ligran, supra, 86 N.J. at 585, 587-592. See further discussion distinguishing Ligran. Prb05-07.

in the Appellate Division concerning enforcement of a guaranty. Feigenbaum concerned a guaranty, that happened to be a separate document, of a ten-year commercial lease of a supermarket signed by two individuals, who were sued when subsequent assignees of the lease defaulted. However, the issue in Feigenbaum was an erroneous grant by the trial court of the right of equitable subrogation between two parties who had no contractual relationship whatsoever, and not enforcement of, the form of, or the validity of a guaranty. Feigenbaum, *supra*, 402 N.J. Super. at 12-16. Nowhere in the Feigenbaum opinion did the Appellate Division mandate that a guaranty must always be a separate and distinct document. The Feigenbaum Court referred to a separate contract merely within the context of comparing it to a suretyship contract.⁶

Similarly, <u>Cruz-Mendez v. Isu/Insurance Servs.</u>, 156 N.J. 556 (1999), the third case alleged by Defendant/Petitioner to be in conflict with the instant

⁶ In <u>Feigenbaum</u>, the issue was equitable subrogation, where the obligee has "[t]he availability of a direct action against a secondary obligor." <u>Feigenbaum</u>, *supra*, 402 N.J. Super. at 18. Describing a guaranty as a separate contract does not prohibit one signature line from serving as execution of both the underlying contract and a guaranty. The definition as used was informational, general, for comparison, and not limiting or indicative of a per se or exclusionary rule that either eliminates guaranties contained within the underlying contract, explains that a "separate contract" must be a physically separate document, or mandates a second signature line if the guaranty is contained within the underlying contract. <u>Id.</u> at 18.

decision, and which is factually distinguishable because it concerned a liability claim against various insurance companies by a country club grounds-keeper who was injured by a firework and involved a suretyship, not a personal guaranty, also described a guaranty as a "separate contract with the obligee" merely within the context of comparing it to a suretyship. Cruz-Mendez, *supra*, 156 N.J. at 568. Again, the definition was informational, general, not requiring separate signatures, not requiring a physically separate contract, used as a comparison, and not indicative of a per se or exclusionary rule. Id. at 568.

Contrary to Defendant/Petitioner's assertion about "established law" being in conflict with the instant decision, neither <u>Ligran</u>, <u>Feigenbaum</u>, nor <u>Cruz-Mendez</u> in any way mandate that a guaranty, in order to be enforceable, must be a physically separate and distinct contract, or if contained within another contract, must contain a second signature line. Therefore, the Appellate Division decision is not in conflict with the cases relied upon by Defendant/Petitioner and is not obliged to impose the rigid formalistic structure sought by Defendant/Petitioner. Supervision by this Honorable Court is not required.

⁷ None of the facts in any of the three cases was analogous to the instant matter because they concerned a promissory note, equitable subrogation and a suretyship, respectively, and not a personal guaranty, and did not contain exclusionary or mandatory language when describing a personal guaranty that prohibited one signature line.

C. The Appellate Division Correctly Applied the Summary Judgment Standard

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